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10 CFR ".'.01 


SAFEiY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE IN$PECTION 

1. 	LlCENsee/LOCAnON INSPECTED: 2. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE 


Tracerco, a business unit of Johnson Matthey, Inc. 

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commi$Sion 


NOTE: in-house review; no on-site inspection Region I, 2100 Renaissance 6lvd, Suite 100 

King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406·2713 


REPORT NUMBER($) 2012-001 

3. 	OOCKET NUMSER(S) 4. I.ICENSE NUMBER(S) 5. OATJ;(S) OF INSPECTION 


030-31174 07-28386-01 July 2.2012 
/ 1
 
LICENSEE: 


The inspoction was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as thay relate to radiation safGty and to compliance with the;) Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission (NRC) rvles and regulations and tho conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective Qxaminations of 
procedur4)S and representatlvo mcords. interllrews with personnel, and observations by the Inspector. The inspeetion flndings are as foIlO'NS: 

1. 	 Based or') lhe inspoction findings, no violations were identifled. 

2. Previous violatlon(s) closed. 

3. 	The violation(s). speoific(llly doscribed to you by thl;) inspector as non-clted violations, are not being cited because they were self· 
identified, non-repetitlvQ. and corrective action was or is beif"lg takGn. and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforoement POlicy. to 
exeroise diSCfGtlon. were satisflod. 

Non-clled violation was discussed involving the following requiremenl(s) end corroctive action(s): 

10 CFR 32..12(a) and (0)(1) rBqulros. in part, that Tracareo file a transfer of byProduct material report, coveting thB 
preceding calendar ye~u, on or before January 31 of each year. In Trar;erco'S I~tter dated April 13. 201:Z (.A.OAM$ 
Acces&iOI'l NO. ML12122A841). TraeBrco Idontlfied that they did not submit the required I'$port for calondar year 2010. In 
TraCE/reo's letter dated May 9, 2012. Traoerco identlf/Clef that they diet not submit the required report for ca1endaryaar 
2011. Tracereo corrocte<f the violation and have committecl to using LOTUS NOTES computer system to sen<l email 
alerts to spacific personnel beginning the last quarter of the year to remind them to compile the annual report and have it 
signed and sent by January 31; therefore preventlng fa currence, This violation is not repetitive and not willful. 

4. 	During this inspection. certain of 1'0\1' activities. ::IS described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and $fe being 
cited in ('.Icoordanoo with the NRC enforctilmont Policy, This form is ~ NOTICE OF VIOLATION. which may be subject to posting in 
accordance with 10 CFR 19.11. (Violations aM CQrrGctlve Actions) 

.._---_._- -------	 _.. _---­
Statement of Corrective Actions 

I hereby state that, within 30 days. the aOllons doscribed by me to the In:spcctor will be taken to OQrtI~ct too violations identified. This $tat~mQnt of 
corrective aCtions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taker'!, corrQctlvQ steps Which will be takGn. 
date vmen fun compllance will be aohiOVQd). I understand that no further written respons~ to NRC will be required, unleSS specifically roquested. 

TItle I Printed Name I Signature 	 O~e 

LICeNSEE'S REPREseNTA~I~E I .\ I() iliA';,,! /J fA 'Ll ' ./ I ~/ '/1 (j 7',..-!/.~ ./ "7 ' ­/ 	 --ii, 
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7/10/20121-__N_R_C_I_NSPEC_T_O_R___+-K_othY Modes, Sr. H••llh Physiolst ,~~ 
BRANCH CHIEF Marc S. Fel'das, Chief 	 M."."., ') -1~t.-.--
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